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California State Labor Laws  
 

The Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (OSH Act) authorizes states to establish their 
own occupational safety and health plans and preempt standards established and enforced by the 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). OSHA must approve state plans if they are “at 
least as effective” as OSHA’s standards and enforcement. The California state occupational safety and 
health plan is administered by Cal/OSHA.1 

Under the California Labor Code and the California Occupational Safety and Health Act, all 
employers in California are legally obligated to provide and maintain a safe and healthful workplace for 
employees.2 

Any employee, who is discharged, threatened with discharge, demoted, suspended, or in any 
manner discriminated and/or retaliated against in the terms and conditions of his or her employment for 
engaging in a "protected activity" under the jurisdiction of the labor commissioner may file a complaint 
with the California Division of Labor Standards Enforcement.3 

As an employee in the State of California, you have the right to speak to representatives of the 
office of the California Labor Commissioner or any other government or law enforcement agency about 
any issues affecting your working conditions. Your employer cannot fire, demote, suspend or discipline 
you for answering any questions or providing any information to a government agency.4 
 

Federalism  
 

Section 18 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, 29 U.S.C. § 667, provides that 
any State, i.e., States as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 652(7), that desires to assume responsibility for 
development and enforcement of occupational safety and health standards must submit to the Secretary 
of Labor a state plan for the development of such standards and their enforcement. Approval of a state 
plan under Section 18 does not affect the Secretary of Labor’s authority to investigate and enforce 
Section 11(c) of the Act in any state, although 29 CFR § 1977.23 and 1902.4(c)(2)(v) require that each 
state plan includes whistleblower protections that are as effective as OSHA’s Section 11(c). Therefore, 
in state plan states that cover the private sector, such employees may file occupational safety and health 
whistleblower complaints with federal OSHA, the state, or both.5  

 
1 Congressional Research Services, OSHA State Plans: In Brief, with Examples from California and Arizona, April 2017, 
https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R43969  
2 California Department of Industrial Relations, The Cal/OSHA Hazard Communication Regulation, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/dosh_publications/hazcom.pdf  
3 California Department of Industrial Relations, Retaliation/Discrimination, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/FAQ_Retaliation.htm  
4 California Department of Industrial Relations, Publication: Assurances of Participation without Retaliation, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/Publications/ParticipationWithoutRetaliation.pdf  
5 U.S. Department of Labor, OSHA, Whistleblower Investigations Manual, effective 2016, 7-5, 
https://www.osha.gov/sites/default/files/enforcement/directives/CPL_02-03-007.pdf  
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 In general, all federally-filed complaints alleging retaliation for occupational safety or health 
activity under state plan authority, i.e., private-sector and non-federal public sector, will be referred to 
the appropriate state plan official for investigation, a determination on the merits, and the pursuit of a 
remedy, if appropriate. If such complaints also contain allegations of retaliation covered under the 
OSHA-administered whistleblower laws other than Section 11(c), such allegations will be investigated 
by federal OSHA under those laws.6 
 Complaints filed solely under the whistleblower statutes administered by OSHA (other than 
11(c)) are under the exclusive authority of federal OSHA and may not be referred to the states. If a 
complaint is filed under a federal OSHA whistleblower statute other than Section 11(c) and a state 
whistleblower statute, it is important to process the complaint in accordance with the requirements 
related to each of the named federal statutes in order to preserve the respondent’s and complainant’s 
rights under the differing laws. Therefore, it will be necessary to coordinate the federal and state 
investigations. 7    
 

Retaliation  
 

Summary of Allegations  
 
Violations: §132, §232.5, §1102.5, §5194, §6310, §6360-§6399, §6408 
 
Allegations: 

• Retaliation due to disclosing work conditions in violation of §232.5(c) 
• Employer rules prohibiting disclosure of work conditions in violation of §232.5(a) 
• Retaliation for making complaints to government agencies about health & safety issues in 

violation of §6310(a)(1) 
• Retaliation due to reporting work-related injury of illness in violation of §6310(a)(4) 
• Retaliation due to disclosing information to a government & law enforcement agency in 

violation of §1102.5(b) 
• Employer rules prohibiting disclosure of information to a government & law enforcement agency 

in violation of §1102.5(a) 
• Retaliation for filing a workers compensation form in violation of §132(a) 
• Retaliation for complaining about violation of §6399 in violation of §6310 
• Failure to comply with Prop 65 requirements in violation of §5194(b)(6) 
• Omission of 10x §339 hazardous chemicals from §5194(b)(6) in violation Labor Code §6360-

6399.7 & Code of Regulations Title 8 §5194 

 
6 U.S. Department of Labor, OSHA, Whistleblower Investigations Manual, effective 2016, 7-6, 
https://www.osha.gov/sites/default/files/enforcement/directives/CPL_02-03-007.pdf  
7 U.S. Department of Labor, OSHA, Whistleblower Investigations Manual, effective 2016, 7-7, 
https://www.osha.gov/sites/default/files/enforcement/directives/CPL_02-03-007.pdf  
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• Prohibiting employees from observing and monitoring and measure employee exposure to 
hazards pursuant to §142.3 (effectively determining “whether the heath of such employee is 
adversely affected by this exposure”) in violation of §6408(c) 

• Failure to provide access to employees to accurate records of employee exposures to potentially 
toxic materials or harmful physical agents in violation of §6408(d) 

• Failure to notify employees who has been or who is being exposed to toxic materials or harmful 
physical agents and informing any employee so exposed of corrective action being taken in 
violation of §6408(d) 

 
 

Preliminary Questions  
 

1. Health and Safety Complaint. If you have made a health and safety complaint to your 
employer that is related to the complaint you are filing, please check “YES” and indicate the date 
that you made the complaint, to whom, and that person’s title.  
☑  YES 

 
2. Health and Safety Related Retaliation Complaint. It is unlawful for an employer to retaliate 

or discriminate against you (for example, fire, threaten to fire, demote, suspend, or discipline 
you) because you complain about health and safety. Check the “YES” box if you have made a 
health and safety related retaliation complaint with the Labor Commissioner’s Office or any 
other government agency, and enter the date you filed the complaint and the name of the 
government agency to whom you complained. If you have a health and safety related retaliation 
complaint, you may also file a complaint with Federal OSHA within 30 days of the event. For 
information about filing a complaint with Federal OSHA, go to http://www.OSHA.gov.  
☑  YES 

 
3. Labor Commissioner Investigation. It is unlawful for an employer to retaliate or discriminate 

against you (for example, fire, threaten to fire, demote, suspend, or discipline you) because you 
speak with a Labor Commissioner Investigator about your working conditions, including 
speaking with an agent of the Labor Commissioner's Bureau of Field Enforcement (BOFE). 
Check the “YES” box if you spoke with a Labor Commissioner investigator (for example, during 
an inspection of your workplace) about your working conditions, and enter the date on which the 
conversation took place and the name of the investigator.  
☑  YES 

 
 
 

Alleged Violations of Law by Apple Inc. 
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California Labor Code §232.5: Disclosing Work Conditions 
 

Labor Code section 232.5 prohibits an employer from discharging or retaliating against an 
employee who discusses or discloses information about the employer’s working conditions. Employers 
also cannot require that an employee sign a waiver or other document denying the employee the right to 
discuss or disclose information about the employer’s working conditions or otherwise require that an 
employee refrain from disclosing information about the employer’s working conditions.8 
 
§232.5: No employer may do any of the following: 

• (a) Require, as a condition of employment, that an employee refrain from disclosing information 
about the employer’s working conditions. 

• (b) Require an employee to sign a waiver or other document that purports to deny the employee 
the right to disclose information about the employer’s working conditions. 

• (c) Discharge, formally discipline, or otherwise discriminate against an employee who discloses 
information about the employer’s working conditions.9 

 
 
California Labor Code §6310: Reporting Health & Safety Issues 
 

Complaining about health and safety issues to your employer, your union or a government 
agency such as Cal-OSHA (Labor Code section 6310). 

Labor Code section 6310 provides that no person shall discriminate against any employee 
because the employee has filed a Cal/OSHA complaint. Some examples of discrimination are firing, 
demotion, transfer, layoff, losing opportunity for overtime or promotion, exclusion from normal 
overtime work, assignment to an undesirable shift, denial of benefits such as sick leave or vacation time, 
blacklisting with other employers, taking away company housing, damaging credit at financial 
institutions and reducing pay or hours.10 

Labor Code section 6310 prohibits an employer from retaliating against an employee who 
complains about safety or health conditions or practices at the workplace, institutes or testifies in any 
proceedings relating to the employee’s rights to safe and healthful working conditions, exercises any 
rights under the federal or California law relating to occupational health and safety, or participates in an 
occupational health and safety committee established under Section 6401.7. Employees are also 
protected if they report a work-related fatality, injury, or illness, or for requesting access to occupational 
injury or illness reports or records, unless the employee alleges retaliation because he or she has the 

 
8 California Labor Code §232.5, 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=LAB&sectionNum=232.5 
9 California Labor Code §232.5, 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=LAB&sectionNum=232.5 
10 California Department of Industrial Relations, Whistleblower Complaints, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/WhisteblowerComplaint.htm 
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intention to file or has filed a workers’ compensation claim pursuant to Labor Code section 132(a). 
   
§6310: Occupational Safety & Health, Jurisdiction & Duties 

• (a) No person shall discharge or in any manner discriminate against any employee because the 
employee has done any of the following: 

o (1) Made any oral or written complaint to the division, other governmental agencies 
having statutory responsibility for or assisting the division with reference to employee 
safety or health, their employer, or their representative. 

o (2) Instituted or caused to be instituted any proceeding under or relating to their rights 
or has testified or is about to testify in the proceeding or because of the exercise by the 
employee on behalf of themselves, or others of any rights afforded to them. 

o (3) Participated in an occupational health and safety committee established pursuant to 
Section 6401.7. 

o (4) Reported a work-related fatality, injury, or illness, requested access to occupational 
injury or illness reports and records that are made or maintained…, except in cases 
where the employee alleges they have been retaliated against because they have filed or 
made known their intention to file a workers’ compensation claim pursuant to Section 
132a, which is under the exclusive jurisdiction of the Workers’ Compensation Appeals 
Board. 

• (b) Any employee who is discharged, threatened with discharge, demoted, suspended, or in any 
other manner discriminated against in the terms and conditions of employment by their employer 
because the employee has made a bona fide oral or written complaint to the division, other 
governmental agencies having statutory responsibility for or assisting the division with reference 
to employee safety or health, their employer, or their representative, of unsafe working 
conditions, or work practices, in their employment or place of employment, or has participated 
in an employer-employee occupational health and safety committee, shall be entitled to 
reinstatement and reimbursement for lost wages and work benefits caused by the acts of the 
employer. Any employer who willfully refuses to rehire, promote, or otherwise restore an 
employee or former employee who has been determined to be eligible for rehiring or promotion 
by a grievance procedure, arbitration, or hearing authorized by law, is guilty of a misdemeanor. 

 
 
California Labor Code §1102.5: Disclosing Violations of Law 
 

Disclosing information to a government or law enforcement agency where you reasonably 
believe the information discloses a violation of law. For example, filing a wage claim, cooperating in an 
investigation by our investigators during an inspection, reporting a health and safety issue to Cal-OSHA 
(Labor Code section 1102.5).  

Subsection (a) prohibits an employer, or any person acting on behalf of the employer, from 
making, adopting, or enforcing any rule, regulation, or policy that prevents an employee who believes 
that he or she is disclosing a violation of state or federal statute, or a violation or noncompliance with a 
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local, state or federal rule or regulation: (1) from disclosing information to a government or law 
enforcement agency, to a person with authority over the employee, or to another employee who has 
authority to investigate, discover, or correct the issue; or (2) from providing information or providing to 
a public body conducting an investigation, hearing or inquiry. Subsection (b) protects against retaliation 
for disclosing information, or because an employer believes an employee has disclosed information or 
may disclose information, to a government or law enforcement agency, to a person with authority over 
the employee, or to another employee who has the authority to investigate, discover, or correct a 
violation, where an employee reasonably believes that the information discloses a violation of a state or 
federal statute, or a violation of or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal rule or regulation. In 
addition to other remedies that might be available, a civil penalty of up to $10,000 may be awarded for 
each violation.11 
 
§ 1102.5: Employment Regulation & Supervision 
• (a) An employer, or any person acting on behalf of the employer, shall not make, adopt, or enforce 

any rule, regulation, or policy preventing an employee from disclosing information to a government 
or law enforcement agency, to a person with authority over the employee, or to another employee 
who has authority to investigate, discover, or correct the violation or noncompliance, or from 
providing information to, or testifying before, any public body conducting an investigation, hearing, 
or inquiry, if the employee has reasonable cause to believe that the information discloses a violation 
of state or federal statute, or a violation of or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal rule or 
regulation, regardless of whether disclosing the information is part of the employee’s job duties. 

• (b) An employer, or any person acting on behalf of the employer, shall not retaliate against an 
employee for disclosing information, or because the employer believes that the employee disclosed 
or may disclose information, to a government or law enforcement agency, to a person with authority 
over the employee or another employee who has the authority to investigate, discover, or correct the 
violation or noncompliance, or for providing information to, or testifying before, any public body 
conducting an investigation, hearing, or inquiry, if the employee has reasonable cause to believe 
that the information discloses a violation of state or federal statute, or a violation of or 
noncompliance with a local, state, or federal rule or regulation, regardless of whether disclosing the 
information is part of the employee’s job duties. 

• (c) An employer, or any person acting on behalf of the employer, shall not retaliate against an 
employee for refusing to participate in an activity that would result in a violation of state or federal 
statute, or a violation of or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal rule or regulation. 

• (d) An employer, or any person acting on behalf of the employer, shall not retaliate against an 
employee for having exercised their rights under subdivision (a), (b), or (c) in any former 
employment. 

• (e) A report made by an employee of a government agency to their employer is a disclosure of 
information to a government or law enforcement agency pursuant to subdivisions (a) and (b). 

 
11 California Department of Industrial Relations, Laws that Prohibit Retaliation and Discrimination, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/HowToFileLinkCodeSections.htm  
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• (f) In addition to other penalties, an employer that is a corporation or limited liability company is 
liable for a civil penalty not exceeding ten thousand dollars ($10,000) for each violation of this 
section.12 

 
Labor Code section 132(a): Workers Compensation  

It’s illegal for your employer to punish or fire you for having a job injury, or for filing a workers’ 
compensation claim when you believe your injury was caused by your job.13 14  

Any employer who discharges, or threatens to discharge, or in any manner discriminates against 
any employee because he or she has filed or made known his or her intention to file a claim for 
compensation with his or her employer or an application for adjudication, or because the employee has 
received a rating, award, or settlement, is guilty of a misdemeanor and the employee’s compensation 
shall be increased by one-half, but in no event more than ten thousand dollars ($10,000), together with 
costs and expenses not in excess of two hundred fifty dollars ($250). Any such employee shall also be 
entitled to reinstatement and reimbursement for lost wages and work benefits caused by the acts of the 
employer.15 
 
 

 
California Labor Code §6399: Hazardous Substances Information and Training Act 
 

Protects an employee who complains or testifies regarding non-compliance with the Hazardous 
Substances Information and Training Act. No person shall discharge or in any manner discriminate 
against, any employee because such employee has filed any complaint or has instituted, or caused to be 
instituted, any proceeding under or related to the provisions of this chapter, or has testified, or is about to 
testify, in any such proceeding, or because of the exercise of any right afforded pursuant to the 
provisions of this chapter on such employee’s behalf or on behalf of others, nor shall any pay, seniority, 
or other benefits be lost for exercise of any such right. A violation of the provisions of this section shall 
be a violation of the provisions of Section 6310.16 

“Hazardous substances in the workplace in some forms and concentrations pose potential acute 
and chronic health hazards to employees who are exposed to these substances. Employers and 
employees have a right and a need to know the properties and potential hazards of substances to which 

 
12 California Labor Code §1102.5, 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=LAB&sectionNum=1102.5  
13 California Department of Industrial Relations, How to file a petition for discrimination, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dwc/iwguides/IWGuide07.pdf  
14 California Department of Industrial Relations, Division of Workers Compensation, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dwc/FactSheets/Employee_FactSheet.pdf  
15 California Labor Code §6361(a), 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=LAB&sectionNum=132a.  
16 California Labor Code §6399.7, 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=LAB&division=5.&title=&part=1.&chapter=2.5.
&article=5.  
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they may be exposed, and such knowledge is essential to reducing the incidence and cost of 
occupational disease. Employers do not always have available adequate data on the contents and 
properties of specific hazardous substances necessary for the provision of a safe and healthful workplace 
and the provision of information and training to employees as is the responsibility of the employer under 
existing law. Many effective employee information and training programs now exist, and with the 
increased availability of basic information and with the extension of such programs to all affected 
employees, preventable health risks in the workplace would be further reduced. The Legislature, 
therefore, intends by this chapter to ensure the transmission of necessary information to employees 
regarding the properties and potential hazards of hazardous substances in the workplace.17 

The Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board shall adopt a standard setting forth an 
employer’s duties toward its employees under this chapter, consistent with the following guidelines: 

• (a)An MSDS shall be available to an employee, collective bargaining representative, or the 
employee’s physician, on a timely and reasonable basis, on substances in the workplace. 

• (b) Employers shall furnish employees who may be exposed to a hazardous substance with 
information on the contents of the MSDS for the hazardous substances or equivalent 
information, either in written form or through training programs, which may be generic to the 
extent appropriate and related to the job. 

• (c) Provision shall be made for employees to be informed of their rights under this chapter 
and under the standard to be adopted.18 

 
California Title 8 §5194: HazCom Regulation 

The HazCom Regulation addresses one aspect — hazardous chemicals — that needs to be 
addressed in order to meet this obligation, and can be found in the California Code of Regulations, title 8 
(T8 CCR), section 5194. It is an important component of an employer’s overall safety and health 
program.  California’s HazCom Regulation is aligned with federal OSHA’s 29CFR 1910 section 1200 
regulation, which in turn incorporates components of the United Nations’ Globally Harmonized System 
(GHS) of Classification and Labeling of Chemicals. Information on GHS is available on the federal 
OSHA website. 19 Exemptions The following materials are exempt from section 5194, but some are 
covered by other regulators with their own hazard communication requirements: Hazardous wastes 
regulated by the EPA.20 
 
The Safe Drinking Water & Toxic Enforcement Act: Proposition 65 - §5194(b)(6) 

 
17 California Labor Code §6361(a), 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=LAB&division=5.&title=&part=1.&chapter=2.5.
&article=1.  
18 California Labor Code §6398, 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=LAB&division=5.&title=&part=1.&chapter=2.5.
&article=1. 
19 California Department of Industrial Relations, The Cal/OSHA Hazard Communication Regulation, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/dosh_publications/hazcom.pdf  
20 California Department of Industrial Relations, The Cal/OSHA Hazard Communication Regulation, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/dosh_publications/hazcom.pdf  
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The relevant requirements of Proposition 65 were added to the original Hazcom Regulation as 
subsection 5194(b)(6) in 1991. Proposition 65 requires the governor to publish a list of chemicals known 
to the State of California to cause cancer, birth defects, or reproductive harm. It also requires that 
businesses provide a clear and reasonable warning before knowingly and intentionally exposing anyone 
to a listed chemical. Relevant notes about Proposition 65 appear throughout this guide. For complete 
details on the Proposition 65 regulation, please refer to Health and Safety Code section 25249.5 et seq., 
Appendix G of title 8 CCR section 5194, and title 27 CCR section 25000, et seq. The Office of 
Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) website provides additional details. Compliance 
with Proposition 65 requirements for notifying employees of hazards can be achieved by complying 
with the provisions of California’s HazCom Regulation.21 22 

The Proposition 65 Right to Know warning requirement mandates that a clear and reasonable 
warning be given to all individuals prior to exposure to any listed chemical that can cause cancer, birth 
defects, or other reproductive harm. If businesses have one or more of the listed chemicals as an 
ingredient in a material they use, a product they manufacture, or an emission into the environment, they 
must provide a clear and reasonable warning unless they can prove that the exposure causes no 
significant risk.  The language in the warning must clearly state that the chemical in question is known 
to cause cancer, birth defects, or other reproductive harm. The warning must be given so that it 
effectively reaches the person before they are exposed. 23 

Under Proposition 65, warnings are required for: consumer product exposures, occupational 
exposures, & environmental exposures. Warnings for exposure in the workplace can be communicated 
by one or a combination of: a warning on a product label; a warning or sign posted conspicuously in the 
workplace; a warning that complies with the federal OSHA Hazard Communication regulation (29 CFR, 
section 1910.1200), the California Hazard Communication regulation (section 5194), the Pesticides 
Worker Safety requirements (T3 CCR, Ch. 6, Sub-chapter 3, Group 3, section 6700) 24 
 
 
Labor Code § 6408(d) 

All employers must provide employees or the employee's representative(s) access to accurate 
records of employee exposure to potentially toxic materials or harmful physical agents. All employers 
shall provide information to employees in the following ways, as prescribed by authorized regulations: 

• (a) Posting of information regarding protections and obligations of employees under 
occupational safety and health laws. 

• (b) Posting prominently each citation issued under Section 6317, or a copy or copies thereof, at 
or near each place a violation referred to in the notice of violation occurred. 

 
21 California Department of Industrial Relations, The Cal/OSHA Hazard Communication Regulation, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/dosh_publications/hazcom.pdf  
22 California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, Proposition 65, https://oehha.ca.gov/proposition-65  
23 California Department of Industrial Relations, The Cal/OSHA Hazard Communication Regulation, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/dosh_publications/hazcom.pdf  
24 California Department of Industrial Relations, The Cal/OSHA Hazard Communication Regulation, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/dosh_publications/hazcom.pdf  
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• (c) The opportunity for employees or their representatives to observe monitoring or measuring of 
employee exposure to hazards conducted pursuant to standards promulgated under Section 
142.3. 

o (c) Any occupational safety or health standard or order promulgated under this section 
shall prescribe the use of labels or other appropriate forms of warning as are necessary to 
ensure that employees are apprised of all hazards to which they are exposed, relevant 
symptoms and appropriate emergency treatment, and proper conditions and precautions 
for safe use or exposure.  Where appropriate, these standards or orders shall also 
prescribe suitable protective equipment and control or technological procedures to be 
used in connection with these hazards and shall provide for monitoring or measuring 
employee exposure at such locations and intervals and in a manner as may be necessary 
for the protection of employees.  In addition, where appropriate, the occupational safety 
or health standard or order shall prescribe the type and frequency of medical 
examinations or other tests which shall be made available, by the employer or at his or 
her cost, to employees exposed to such hazards in order to most effectively determine 
whether the health of such employee is adversely affected by this exposure.25 

• (d) Allow access by employees or their representatives to accurate records of employee 
exposures to potentially toxic materials or harmful physical agents. 

• (e) Notification of any employee who has been or is being exposed to toxic materials or harmful 
physical agents in concentrations or at levels exceeding those prescribed by an applicable 
standard, order, or special order, and informing any employee so exposed of corrective action 
being taken.26  

 
 
Labor Code Section §339. The Hazardous Substances List 
The substances on this list are subject to the provisions of Labor Code Sections 6360 through 6399.7 and 
Section 5194 in Title 8 of the California Code of Regulations.27 
 
Present at Apple Inc. office at 825 Stewart Drive, Sunnyvale California  

1. 71556, 1,1,1-Trichloroethane; see Methyl chloroform 
2. 76131, 1,1,2-Trichloro-1,2, 2-trifluoroethane (FC-113)  
3. 75343, 1,1-Dichloroethane; see Ethylidenechloride  
4. 75354 , Vinylidene chloride (1,1-Dichloroethene)  
5. 95501, 1,2-Dichlorobenzene; see o-Dichlorobenzene  
6. 75014, Vinyl chloride  

 
25 California Labor Code – LAB §142.3, https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/labor-code/lab-sect-142-3.html  
26 California Labor Code – LAB §6408, 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=LAB&sectionNum=6408.  
27 Chapter 3.2. California Occupational Safety and Health Regulations (CAL/OSHA), Subchapter 1. Regulations of the 
Director of Industrial Relations, Article 5. Hazardous Substances Information and Training, 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/title8/339.html  
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7. 540590, 1,2-Dichloroethylene; see Acetylene dichloride 540590 
8. 127184, 1,2,3,5  Perchloroethylene  
9. 156605, 1,2-trans-Dichloroethylene  
10. 79016, Trichloroethene; see Trichloroethylene  

 
 

Protected Activities 
 
Note: List is not exclusive.  Please see Timeline for more extensive listing of events.  
 
Activity Around COVID-19 Exposure [§232.5, §1102.5, §6310] 

• June 12 – I post the Welcome Everyone Forward video that will be sent with the Tim & Deirdre 
email. Amongst other things, it discusses the value of working from home to avoid spreading 
pathogens. It’s viewable by anyone at Apple, we get thousands of views.  

• June 14 – I & another PM email Tim Cook & Deirdre O’Brien: Sent a letter signed by 1,768 
colleagues requesting reconsideration of the current return to work plan, with the letter 
referencing concerns about COVID exposure amongst other concerns. Also attached are personal 
stories, a video of many employees reading the letter including myself, and a document with the 
signatures listed. All uploaded documents were visible under my account name. I confirmed Tim 
Cook viewed the video and signature files. (See screenshot of Box views).  

• July 10 – I post on Apple Slack concerns about media coverage of COVID outbreaks in Santa 
Clara County Apple buildings that Apple never informed us of.  

• I submit PRA to Santa Clara County for Apple COVID exposure data (never hear back). o I 
post on apple Slack that I requested the COVID exposure data & would it share it with  

• employees there once received (message was visible to Apple).  
o Public Records Request: I would like to please request any/all data about Apple, Inc 

COVID19 infection reports from Jan 1, 2021 through June 30, 2021. Please include each 
report/update from Apple of an outbreak/infection with dates of reported infection and 
closure of investigation. Detail how many employees were infected in each report, the 
workplace location (address), and the workplace setting (office, construction, retail, etc). 
For each report, include the dates the infected employees were symptomatic (by 
employee and report), the dates the symptomatic/infected employees were in the 
workplace, and the number of employees who were "in close contact" with the infected 
employees. Please also include any notes from the SCC investigation into the report. 
Thank you. Please let me know if you have any questions or need any clarifications. 
Submitted on Sat, 07/10/2021 - 11:41”  

• July 23 – The NYT publishes article with quote form me criticizing Apple’s dangerous plans to 
bring everyone back to the office in Sept 2021 despite Delta/COVID.14  
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o NYT: “In June, Apple’s chief executive, Tim Cook, told employees that they would be 
required to return to the office at least three days a week, starting in September. About 
1,800 employees sent Mr. Cook a letter calling for a more flexible approach. He did not 
respond, but days later Apple posted an internal video in which company executives 
doubled down on bringing workers back to the office. In the video, Dr. Sumbul Desai, 
who helps run Apple’s digital health division, encouraged workers to get vaccinated but 
stopped short of saying they would be required to, according to a transcript viewed by 
The Times. The video didn’t sit well with some employees. “OK, you want me to put my 
life on the line to come back to the office, which will also decrease my productivity, and 
you’re not giving me any logic on why I actually need to do that?” said Ashley Gjovik, a 
senior engineering program manager. When the company delayed its return-to-office date 
on Monday, a group of employees drafted a new letter, proposing a one-year pilot 
program in which people could work from home full time if they chose to. The letter said 
an informal survey of more than 1,000 Apple employees found that roughly two-thirds 
would question their future at the company if they were required to return to the office.  

• July 24 –I’m awarded The NYT “Quote of the Day” from the article the day before 
o NYT: Quotation of the Day: Virus Surge Complicates Return-to-Office Plans: “OK, you 

want me to put my life on the line to come back to the office, which will also decrease 
my productivity, and you’re not giving me any logic on why I actually need to do that?” 
ASHLEY GJOVIK, a senior engineering program manager at Apple, who was one of 
many employees to push back against an earlier plan to return to the office in September. 
Many companies are reconsidering their return dates after objections from employees and 
concerns about the surging Delta variant.28 

• July 30 – Apple HR emails me to tell me they’re waiting for Sedgwick to respond on the ADA 
accommodation request and I reply: (see email)  

o “This ADA Remote Work request was .... I filed a worker’s comp claim for a fainting 
spell in 2019 that I believe was due to the chemicals in the air there. EH&S refused to 
answer many of my questions about the building and their procedures, and now has 
refused to answer any more of my questions about it all. .... My doctor is working on the 
paper work you mentioned but we’re both struggling to mentally process the fact that I 
have to fill out such invasive and intimidating paperwork to literally just not get 
poisoned. I’ve shared these concerns with ER as well ...[who is] overseeing my sexism & 
hostile work environment investigation, and his team was also playing public relations 
agent for EH&S. Also, FYI, ... I’m also talking to NYT about this whole debacle 
ongoing. NYT quoted me last week about my concerns about another workplace safety 
issue — what I feel is inadequate safety protocols & policies around COVID exposure for 
employees being forced back into the office this fall in the midst of a global pandemic.”  

 
28 NYT, https://www.nytimes.com/2021/07/24/todayspaper/quotation-of-the-day-virus-surge-complicates-return-to-office- 
plans.html  
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• Aug 22 – Submitted revised “issue confirmation” to Apple Employee Relations. Excerpts 
include:  

o My: “Protected Activities & Whistleblowing:” 
July 23-34, 2021: Quoted in NYT with concerns about safety risk in Apple bringing us 
back on stie with COVID, next date was selected as quote of the day. 

o April 2021, filed workers comp complaint for chemical exposure and notified managers, 
HR, ER, & EHS.  

Knowledge Related to COVID-19 Exposure Activities  

• June 14 – Email to Tim Cook & Deirdre with files under my account name asking for more 
remote work flexibility due to COVID-19 safety concerns among other concerns.21  

• July 10 – Posted on Apple’s Slack that I requested Apple COVID-19 outbreak data from the 
county & would share with employees when received.22  

• July 23 & 24 - New York Times article & quote about COVID safety concerns in the Apple 
offices.23  

• July 30 – Emailed Apple ER and informed them in writing of the NYT article quoting my safety 
concerns.24  

• Aug 4 – 🛑	INDEFINITE ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE  
• Sept 9 – 🛑	TERMINATED  

 

Activity Around COVID-19 Vaccine Hoarding [§232.5, §1102.5, §6310] 

• Dec 2020 – Raised concerns to senior leadership about statements made by Sr VP Dan Riccio 
during an All Hands meeting that sounded like Apple planned to skip the line on COVID 
vaccines, and hoard them for employees & their families (see Health & Safety Evidence I)  

• July 2021: Informed 2nd Employee Investigations investigator of the Dan Riccio / COVID-19 
vaccine hoarding situation, provided numerous pieces of evidence.  

• Aug 22 – Included my vaccine hoarding concerns as protected activity in Issue Confirmation 
sent to Apple ER  

• Sept 3—Filed DOJ NCDF Disaster Complaint form: Vaccine hoarding/price gouging  
o On 12/3/20 Dan Riccio (Apple SVP) held a meeting with all his employees & said he 

"just got out of a mtg with Tim Cook" & "bragged to us that Tim just secured contract(s) 
to get Apple employees and their family’s early access to COVID vaccines. He said we’d 
be 'back' early Feb '21, and said only medical staff & nursing homes will get the vax 
before us. He even *laughed* that we're getting so much vax we’ll probably have 
'excess.' Ricco said, "we should be grateful we work for such a 'big, powerful company.'"  

o I emailed an ethics leader at Apple with my formal concerns about this on 12/7/20. (I 
raised my concerns to my own managers 12/3 but didn't hear back). On 12/7 I shared the 
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statement above and also asked for an intervention based on ethics & social resp. I was 
told there were "stories about (COVID) test machines & treatment that are troubling" but 
there was no contract for company wide access to vaccines. I was told I was resp for 
resolving the comm issue. Riccio was demoted & reassigned on 1/26/21 with formal 
explanation.  

o Witnesses: Apple Employees: Deirdre O'Brien; Lisa Jackson; Sumbal Ahman Desai; Dan 
Riccio; Tim Cook. The all hands where Dan Riccio said these things was recorded on 
video and the video was replayed to leadership after I escalated, and they confirmed that's 
what he said.  

Knowledge Related to COVID-19 Vaccine Hoarding Activities  

• July: Informed 2nd Employee Investigations investigator of the Dan Riccio / COVID-19 vaccine 
hoarding situation. (see §1 under “Protected Activities” for details).  

• Aug 4 – 🛑	INDEFINITE ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE  
• Aug 22 – Submitted revised “issue confirmation” to Apple Employee Relations (see email) 

Excerpts include: Protected Activities: Dec 2020/Jan 2021: Raised concerns about Apple 
entering into a private contract to obtain expediated access to COVID-19 vaccines for employees 
& their families, per Dan Riccio All Hands comments (recorded on video). My interpretation 
was confirmed, but was told Apple will not do that, although an exec mentioned there were still 
some ethical concerns about smaller Apple activities around COVID testing & treatments. Dan 
Riccio was demoted ~1 month after my concerns were raised, escalated, and confirmed.  

• Sept 6 – Tweet about COVID Vaccine Hoarding 
o “Aug 2 iMessage with apple coworker: “Seriously though, ER’s face about the COVID 

vaccine & Riccio’s demotion. He really thought I was exaggerating. I’m like if you want 
a witness please talk to Deirdre O’Brien.” @TheJusticeDept; NCDF Disaster Complaint: 
Hoarding/Other [photo of DOJ complaint & iMessage].25  

• Sept 9 – 🛑	TERMINATED 

 

Activity Around Ethylbenzene & Toluene Concerns [§232.5, §1102.5, §6310] 
 
See CERCLA Memo for other industrial chemical concerns 

• April 11 – I email questions to EH&S I’d like to discuss at the next meeting, including: 
o “3) I saw that in 2015 they found Ethylbenzene in exceedance of EPA industrial limits in 

the indoor air near my desk, but that Ethylbenzene is not a COC. Was there any talk of 
making it a COC? Will it be one of the chemicals you test for this year — and if not, can 
it be? Did anyone confirm those levels actually went down after the Dec testing? The last 
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data point we have shown Ethylbenzene present on site above EPA industrial limits in 
our workspace.”  

o “4) I also see what looks like exceeding levels of Toluene in the lab reports next to my 
desk but didn’t see it mentioned in the reports — can you provide insight? Also, same 
questions as Ethylbenzene above.”  

o “5) any idea why the 2019 FYR didn’t mentioned the above industrial limits of Toluene 
or Ethylbenzene in the indoor air?” 

o EPA notes: Ethylbenzene was detected in the building at 12 ug/m3, exceeding its PAL of 
4.0 ug/m3. Toluene was found at 1100 ug/m3 exceeding its PAL  

• April 11 – I complain to my director: “none of this sound safe.”  
o “None of this sounds safe. Based on all this data, seems more likely that not that my 

fainting spell in my office in SD01 was very likely related to the chemicals on this 
Superfund site. If not the TCE, PCE, or Chloroform – then the levels of Ethylbenzene and 
Toluene exceeding max industrial limits in 2015 that one seems to have ever followed up 
on.”  

•  May 17 – Email to EH&S & ER, I raised concerns about the high Ethylbenzene & Toluene in 
the EPA reports for my building.  

o EH&S, responds: “those are not attributable to vapor intrusion in SD01 because they are 
not formal contaminants of concern. He says no evidence they exceeded OSHA PEL in 
the building.”  

Knowledge Related to Ethylbenzene & Toluene Concerns  

• April-May 2021 – Reported concerns about reports of unhealthy levels of Ethylbenzene & 
Toluene in the office directly Apple EH&S, Employee Relations, and my manager (see emails in 
Evidence)  

• May 17 – Email to EH&S & ER, I raised concerns about the high Ethylbenzene & Toluene in the 
EPA reports for my building.  

o EH&S, responds: Those chemicals are not attributable to vapor intrusion in SD01 
because they are not formal contaminants of concern. He says no evidence they exceeded 
OSHA PEL in the building. Said if I have questions about it, can arrange for a workplace 
evaluation with EH&S.  

• Aug 4 – 🛑	INDEFINITE ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE  
• Sept 9 – 🛑	TERMINATED  

 

Knowledge of Right to Know Concerns  

• April 2 – First meeting with Apple EH&S about the office:  
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o I asked: “Pg. 32 of the 2014 FYR mentions there’s excess cancer risk for occupants due 
to vapor intrusion, and also plumbing/steam pathways (like the lockeroom showers). 
Shouldn’t employees be notified about this? Prop 65 at least? “ 

§ EH&S says: No Prop 65 requirements per internal review. 
o I asked: “9. Shouldn’t employees be notified this is a remediation site? Ideally informed 

consent for working there. At the very least Right to Know should require some sort to 
disclosure? “  

§ EH&S says: Apple decided no legal requirement. Larger question for Apple on 
ethical/moral obligation.  

• Aug 4 – 🛑	INDEFINITE ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE  
• Aug 22 – Submitted revised “issue confirmation” to Apple Employee Relations, including: o 

Apple Real Estate Environment, Health, & Safety: Overall  
o Concerns: RICO; Negligence, Misrepresentation; Fraud; Recklessness; Violations of Env 

Laws; OSHA, & Right to Know; Toxic Torts; Corporate Corruption; Organized 
Intimidation; Organized Witness Tampering  

• Sept 9 – 🛑	TERMINATED  

 

Workplace Injuries [§232.5, §1102.5, §6310] 

• April 11 – I email EH&S saying: 
o “I made a map of where I had the really bad fainting spell in September of 2019. I brought 
this up again with our Sr Director, who remembered me telling him about it when it happened. 
This screwed up my diagnosis of what happened last year because the only time I had ever had 
severe fainting spells like I did in my hazardous waste apartment (with suspected VI) — was that 
time in September at SD01. It first started in [a coworkers] office and then continued for a couple 
hours at my desk.”  

• April 19 – Apple HR pushes me to file workers comp for 2019 fainting spell, and to note 
suspected cause is vapor intrusion chemical exposure. 16  

• April 21 – I open workers comp claim through Sedgwick for the 2019 fainting spell do to vapor 
intrusion chemical exposure at Superfund office on 9/4/2019. 17  

• April 21 – I notify Apple mgmt., HR, & ER of the chemical exposure workers comp claim & 
what it’s for  

o To manager: “Hello, after urging from [HR] to do so, I called Sedgwick today about a 
workers comp claim. Sedgwick just opened up a worker’s comp claim for me about the 
several hour long near-fainting spell in [a coworker’s] office & at my desk and on 
9/4/2019 starting at 12pm in SD01. Suspected cause is industrial chemical vapor 
exposure. I remember notifying you and [another manager] verbally within a week of it 
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happening, so I told her to put manager notice between 1 day and 1 week. Claim # 
302174831070001. I’m letting [HR], ER, you, [another manager], & [coworker] know it 
filed. ([coworker] because he’s the witness).” 

o Manager responds same day: “Thanks for letting me know”  
• April 21 – Text with coworker 

o Me: [HR] told me to file a worker’s comp report for what happened in your office. I thought 
Sedgwick would tell me to get lost, but I got a lady who’s watched Erin Brockovich four times 
and she’s all over this. She’s been filing this thing for 30min now. Sedgwick lady told me to 
consider suing Apple.  

• May 12: CA DIR Workers Comp form completed, signed, submitted to Apple 
o Address: “Stewart 1 Office building, aka TRW Microwave EPA Superfund, 825 Stewart 

Dr 
o Describe Injury: “severe dizzy spells on 9/4/2019 & possible exposure to industrial 

chemicals for years”  
• May 22 – Apple Worker’s compensation claim was denied on May 22, 2021 

o My workers comp claim was denied right before the announcement that the Irvine Company 
(property manager of the apartment I got terribly ill at due to suspected vapor intrusion29) and 
Apple signed a long-term lease agreement on May 24, 2021. I filed a workers compensation 
claim for fainting in the office in 2019 due to the chemicals. Sedgwick was going to pursue it 
,but the claim was mysteriously claimed on Saturday night with a strange voicemail from the 
investigator. Then on Monday morning, it was announced Apple signed a mega deal with Irvine 
Company over the weekend for a massive amount of office space on chemical clean-up sites in 
Sunnyvale.30 

• Jun 22 – I email the ER Manager about my Senior Director giving me peanuts in 2017, me going 
into anaphylaxis, and him not getting medical attention or reporting the issue.  

o “When I was at the final Apple party at the Grace Hopper Convention in 2017, my Senior 
Director approached me and gave me a desert and told me to eat it. I asked him what was 
in it and he just said to eat it. I asked again, and again he said, just eat it. I took a bite and 
said “is there peanut in this??!” And he smiled and said proudly, “yes!” I yelled at him 
that I have a peanut allergy (I was fairly certain I told him that previously too). He just 
stared at me. I told him I need allergy medicine ASAP and I spit the peanut gelato back 
into the cup. He said he’d get some and disappeared. I started having symptoms of 
anaphylaxis and hadn’t heard from him for about 15min so I tracked him down and he 
said he was drunk and forgot he was supposed to get me medicine. He said he’d go get it 
and be back. About maybe 45min after the peanut intake he finally showed up with a 
single Allegra-type allergy pill. I took it but it was too late and I told him I was having 
severe symptoms. He disappeared and I never saw him again that night. Another EPM 
looked after me at the party for a little bit but I felt so sick I wanted to go back to my 

 
29 https://sfbayview.com/2021/03/i-thought-i-was-dying-my-apartment-was-built-on-toxic-waste/ 
30 https://www.mercurynews.com/2021/05/24/apple-mega-deal-iphone-maker-huge-sunnyvale-expansion-real-estate-tech/  
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room and lay down. I got lost walking through the hotel alone, circling for maybe an 
hour, and when I finally got to my room, I puked my guts out in the bathroom and fell 
asleep on the marble floor there. Senior Director never followed up or reported it. I told 
Director when I got back and Director said he just sent a joking text to Senior Director 
complaining he was trying to “kill his EPM.” I saw him text it, so if they both have their 
iMessage records from that time, it should still be there. Further, I contracted 
Pertussis/whooping cough during the flight to that conference and ended up getting a full- 
blown case for the full 100 days despite being fully vaccinated. The theory from the 
doctors was that I got so sick because while the Pertussis was taking hold, I also got so 
sick from the peanut allergy via Dan. In addition to standard Pertussis symptoms like 
coughing so hard I’d vomit every 20 min or so for months — I also bruised my ribs 
coughing and got bronchitis.” 

• July 16 – Apple ER kicks off “investigation”, I email Employee Relations a list of evidence 
folders I’ve shared with them, labeled by year and cause of action including:  

o Assault and Battery, Hostile Work Environment, Bribes, Retaliation, Constructive 
Termination, Negligence, Failure to Report Workplace Injuries, Discrimination Based on 
Sex & Disability, Sexual Harassment, Failure to Address Hostile Work Environment, 
FMLA Violation, ADA Violations, IIED, Workplace Safety Concerns  

• July 30 – I post on Apple Women-of-SWE Slack channel, top of the channel/new thread, the ER 
investigation and my concerns about it, but also:  

o “Even before that I’ve been raising concerns about an unsafe work environment. I have 
very good reason to believe I’ve been exposed to uncontrolled industrial chemicals. I’ve 
been complaining for months. ER has partnered with EH&S to dodge my questions and 
arguably misrepresent what’s happening. I had to resort to getting the Federal EPA & 
State OSHA involved. Guess what Apple ER recommended? Submit a medical 
accommodation request through Sedgwick to request remote work so I’m not exposed to 
the industrial chemicals. Guess what the request form asked for? Me to release a very 
large scope of medical records directly to Apple Inc and have my doctor fill out a detailed 
form explaining why exposure to uncontrolled industrial chemicals, possibly at toxic 
levels, is bad for my health and even referenced a worker’s comp form I filled out for a 
fainting spell in my office in 2019, directly referencing vapor intrusion in my active 
Superfund office. Then what did Sedgwick do? Send me another detailed form for my 
doctor to fill out asking for more details about my health and also things like, what if we 
get you an air purifier by your desk? (Yes, an air filter, to mitigate the levels of TCE 
known to be in the air at my desk above max industrial levels even less than ten years 
ago). ...  

• Aug 20 – I file workers comp claims for the 2017 injuries my Senior Director never reported 
(peanut allergy & pertussis) & notify ER I filed them.  

• Aug 29 -- Filed Federal OSHA Whistleblower complaint  
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o Adverse Actions: Suspension, Harassment, Intimidation, Constructive Termination, 
Threat to take above 
o Why did you believe you suffered adverse employment action? “Called/filed 
complaint with OSHA & Federal EPA, Complaint to mgmt. about unlawful conditions 
conduct or practices, because of sex & disability, because engaged in concerted activities, 
reported injury, participated in safety & health activities, refused to perform unsafe task”  

Knowledge Related to Workplace Injuries  

• July 18 – I post on Apple Slack about safety concerns: 
o “And yeah, for context the remote work ADA process was actually suggested to me by 

Employee Relations as some sort of accommodation in response to me yelling for months 
about their negligence with my office/the property it’s on, failure to address my work 
place safety concerns, and misrepresentation of their policies/protocols. Also, yup I 
already reported her comments and my dissatisfaction with this whole mess of a process 
to Employee Relations. I have a big 90m meeting with two ER people this week to go 
over all this, in addition to my outstanding complaints about work place safety, sexism, 
sexual harassment, failure to address hostile work env, failure to report work place 
injuries, FMLA & ADA violations, intimidation and retaliation for raising concerns about 
all of the above, whistleblower retaliation, and a whole bunch more. To everyone 
suggesting I consider taking legal action, thank you and oh trust me, I am, but I think I 
will stress the judge out of I keep adding more & more cause of action after the initial 
complaint... so I’ll let ER do their thing. Perhaps me talking publicly & semi-publicly 
about all this will make Apple & their goons act more like humans and less like a 
corporate machine, or at the very least act like a corporate machine with a PR crisis.  

• July 30 – I post on Apple Women-of-SWE Slack channel, top of the channel/new thread, the 
Employee Relations investigation and my concerns about it, but also:  

o “Even before that I’ve been raising concerns about an unsafe work environment. I have 
very good reason to believe I’ve been exposed to uncontrolled industrial chemicals. I’ve 
been complaining for months. ER has partnered with EH&S to dodge my questions and 
arguably misrepresent what’s happening. I had to resort to getting the Federal EPA & 
State OSHA involved. Guess what Apple ER recommended? Submit a medical 
accommodation request through Sedgwick to request remote work so I’m not exposed to 
the industrial chemicals. Guess what the request form asked for? Me to release a very 
large scope of medical records directly to Apple Inc and have my doctor fill out a detailed 
form explaining why exposure to uncontrolled industrial chemicals, possibly at toxic 
levels, is bad for my health and even referenced a worker’s comp form I filled out for a 
fainting spell in my office in 2019, directly referencing vapor intrusion in my active 
Superfund office. Then what did Sedgwick do? Send me another detailed form for my 
doctor to fill out asking for more details about my health and also things like, what if we 
get you an air purifier by your desk? (Yes, an air filter, to mitigate the levels of TCE 
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known to be in the air at my desk above max industrial levels even less than ten years 
ago). What happens when I complain to ER again that I have to fill out paper work to not 
get poisoned? Literally Nothing. But I did just get an email from HR today: “At this time 
Sedgwick is working with your provider to clarify and more fully understand your 
limitations. I will contact you as soon as I have information from Sedgwick so we can 
engage in an interactive discussion around your limitation and your accommodation 
request.” 

• Aug 4 – 🛑	INDEFINITE ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE 
Aug 20 – I file workers comp claims for the 2017 injuries my Senior Director never reported & 
notify Employee Relations I filed them. 

• Aug 22 – Submitted revised “issue confirmation” to Apple Employee Relations, Included: 
Concerns  

o Unsafe work conditions (2017-current)  
o Toxic tort, occupational exposure (2017-current) 	
o Failure to report workplace injuries (2017, 2019) 	
o Failure to seek medical attention for life threatening injury (2017) 	
o Apple Real Estate Environment, Health, & Safety:	

§ RICO; Negligence, Misrepresentation; Fraud; Recklessness; Violations of Env 
Laws; OSHA, & Right to Know; Toxic Torts; Corporate Corruption; Organized 
Intimidation; Organized Witness Tampering 	

o Workers Compensation Claims: 	
§ Chemical Exposure (# 302174831070001) Filed: 4/26/2021; Dated: 12/4/2019	
§ Peanut Allergy, Anaphylaxis, & Failure to Provide Medical Treatment 

(#302179876420001) Filed: 8/20/2021; Dated: 10/6/2017	
§ Severe Pertussis due to above Anaphylaxis (# 3021 7987 5030 001) 8/20/2021; 

Dated: 10/3/2017 	
• Sept 9 – 🛑	TERMINATED 	

 
Reporting Health & Safety Issues [§232.5, §1102.5, §6310]  

• April 30 – I email the Federal EPA summarizing a phone call we had and detailing questions for 
her about my building. It includes:  

o  “It sounds like [Apple] thinks they only have to inform employees if there’s a concrete 
and immediate risk to employee health (which I argued... how would they know that if 
they’re not testing?... no answer). I’m also feeling pressure to not talk to co-workers 
about any of this either (from my direct manager and our employee relations teams). I am 
curious what the EPA’s expectations are for responsible parties related to informing 
workers in these buildings about the chemicals, the gov status, etc. Maybe this is more 
OSHA & “Right to Know” — but any guidance you can provide here would be helpful. 
Also, anything about workers’ rights to be able to talk about these sites.”  
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o Further, because none of us know this is a Superfund site — we don’t know not to mess 
with sub slat vent covers, or to not mess with the HVAC, or to report if there’s any usual 
smells etc. I brought this up with him and he’d said he’d back to me a couple weeks ago 
— but said that the Env Health Safety team does know and does visit the site. I 
communicated that does not seem sufficient. .... I’m curious what the EPA’s expectations 
are for responsible parties (and companies they may lease to) to communicate to workers 
in these buildings about how to monitor for their issues (weird smells, weird health 
issues, etc) or how to report trouble or what not to mess with (plugs, HVAC, etc).  

•  June? – I try calling the regional OSHA office and verbally report the issue. They don’t file a 
formal report out of confusion over OSHA / CERCLA governance.  

• Aug 29 -- Filed Federal Dept of Labor Whistleblower complaint  
o Adverse Actions: Suspension, Harassment, Intimidation, Constructive Termination, 

Threat to take above 
o Why did you believe you suffered adverse employment action? “Called/filed 
complaint with OSHA & Federal EPA, Complaint to mgmt. about unlawful conditions 
conduct or practices, because of sex & disability, because engaged in concerted activities, 
reported injury, participated in safety & health activities, refused to perform unsafe task”  

• Aug 29-30 - filed complaints to federal and state EPA about unsafe oversight of the superfund & 
unsafe work conditions Federal & State EPA: As reported to the EPA Superfund site community 
contact, I've had concerns since March 2021 about Apple's oversight & lack of due diligence for 
the safety of their employees in the TRW Microwave Superfund site (825 Stewart). I've 
expressed concerns about negligence and even recklessness, possible violations of Right to 
Know & OSHA. Worse, Apple's response has been to misrepresent their activities and the site, 
intimidate me to not speak about workplace safety concerns related to the site, and have refused 
to notify the Federal EPA of changed circumstances at the site (e.g., cracks in the cement floor 
requiring repair). Apple has frequently told me they refuse to answer any of my questions about 
safety or the site, and even pressured me into requesting an ADA accommodation request to 
work remotely to not be exposed to the chemicals at the site, after pressuring me to file a 
worker's comp claim for a fainting spell I had in 2019, which I believe to be caused by vapor 
intrusion. Apple has refused to test the indoor air for vapor intrusion until after they seal the 
cracks, despite the last testing being done in 2015 and was limited (10hrs) and the only time the 
results ever came back without vapor intrusion above max EPA industrial limits (there was a 
long history of toxic indoor air vapor intrusion in the building). Further, Northrup Grumman is 
the responsible party and their ex-CEO/President, Ronald Sugar, is now on the Board of 
Directors of Apple & the Chair of the Finance & Audit committee. I can provide documentation 
for all of the above. I reported my concerns about conflicts of interest to Apple. I've also filed 
DOL OSHA Whistleblower retaliation complaints, and claims with the EEOC, NLRB, & CA 
DEFH.  

Health & Safety Concern / Complaint Knowledge 
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• July 30 – I post on Apple Women-of-SWE Slack channel, top of the channel/new thread, the ER 
investigation and my concerns about it, but also: 

o  “Even before that I’ve been raising concerns about an unsafe work environment. I have 
very good reason to believe I’ve been exposed to uncontrolled industrial chemicals. I’ve 
been complaining for months. ER has partnered with EH&S to dodge my questions and 
arguably misrepresent what’s happening. I had to resort to getting the Federal EPA & 
State OSHA involved.  

• Aug 4 – 🛑	INDEFINITE ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE  
• Aug 29: I Tweeted:“Reading those #Apple employment discrimination & labor lawsuits 

yesterday pointed me to all sorts of paperwork I apparently still need to fill out (& with tight 
statute of limitations!) @OSHA_DOL Whistleblower Complaint now filed too... Along with: 
@USEEOC @CalDFEH & @NLRB,”26  

• Sept 2 –Bloomberg publishes article mentioning my NLRB complaint, Fed DOL OSHA, CA 
DOL, & EEOC against Apple. 

o Ashley Gjovik, a senior engineering program manager at Apple, said that she filed the 
Aug. 26 complaint, which cited harassment by a manager, a retaliatory investigation and 
forced paid administrative leave. Gjovik’s situation began with fears about whether 
pollution had made her office a dangerous place to work. She says she was then retaliated 
against for voicing the concerns. “I should be able to raise concerns about safety and 
public policy,” she said in an interview Thursday. Gjovik also has filed complaints with 
the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, California’s labor commissioner’s 
office and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, according to documents she 
provided. Gjovik said her goal is to bring light to systematic problems at Apple and try to 
improve policies.“ I want to pierce the veil of intimidation and secrecy,” she said in the 
interview. “The employees are terrified to speak up about their concerns.”  

• Sept 6 – I Tweeted “@NLRB Case: 32-CA-282142, @OSHA_DOL Whistleblower Claim: 
1218-023, , @USEEOC Case: 556-2021-00608, @SEC_Enforcement Whistleblower Claim: 
16304-612-987-465 , @CivilRights Complaint: 98145-RJHm @CA_DIR Whistleblower Claim: 
RCI-CM-842830, @CalDFEH Case: 202108-14540123”  

• -Sept 9 – 🛑	TERMINATED  

Knowledge  
 
See above and summary list below.  
 
Concerns about occupational and environmental exposure raised to: 

• Internally to management: EH&S (Michael & Antone), Dan West, David Powers, Employee 
Relations (Jenna Waibel, Ekelemchi Okpo, Antonio Lagares), Human Resources (Helen Polkes) 
I&D (John Brown), Business Conduct, Legal (Debra Goldstein)  
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• Internally to coworkers: Mike Ertell, Osman Guracar, Jane Markham, Aidria Astravas, Simon 
Moen, Eddie Borjas, Joshua Cohen  

• Internally threatening to report complaints to gov agencies: Employee Relations (Jenna 
Waibel, Ekelemchi Okpo, Antonio Lagares), EH&S (Michael Steiger & Antone Jain) 

• Internally threaten to sue: Employee Relations (Jenna Waibel, Ekelemchi Okpo, Antonio 
Lagares 

• Internally threatening go to the press Employee Relations (Jenna Waibel, Ekelemchi Okpo, 
Antonio Lagares), EH S (Michael Steiger & Antone Jain) 

• Externally to the government: Federal EPA, CA DPH  
• Externally to press: (pre-suspension) Verge, NYT, Washington Post; (post-suspension, pre-

termination) Reuters, NPR, Financial Times, Bloomberg, ....  
 
 

Unfavorable Employment Actions  
 
See termination and pretext memo for additional details.  

Adverse employment actions would deter a reasonable employee from accurately reporting a work-
related injury or illness. Unfavorable employment actions may include:  

• -  Firing or laying off  
• -  Blacklisting  
• -  Demoting  
• -  Denying overtime or promotion  
• -  Disciplining  
• -  Denying benefits  
• -  Failure to hire or rehire  
• -  Intimidation  
• -  Making threats  
• -  Reassignment affecting prospects for promotion  

Unfavorable Actions Taken  

• March-July: Intimidation & Harassment  
o Managers; Human Resources; Employee Relations  

• April-July: Reassignment of work affecting prospect for promotion; hostility; exclusion 
from meetings & projects  

o Managers  
• April-Sept: Failure to respond to / resolve retaliation  

o Managers; Human Resources; Employee Relations  
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• July: Increase in unfavorable work  
o Managers  

• Aug 4: Indefinite administrative leave 
o Employee Relations  

• Aug: Refusal to let me participate in an I&D training  
o Employee Relations  

• Sept 9: Suspension of account access  
o Workplace Violence  

• Sept 9: Termination  
o VP; Workplace Violence  

• Sept-Oct: Harassment & Defamation  
o Legal & 3rd Party Counsel; Workplace Violence; Global Security employee(s) See 

Retaliation, Termination, & Pretext memos & evidence files.  

 
Background  

 
Apple Inc at 825 Stewart Drive, Sunnyvale 

 
See 825 Stewart Drive memo for additional details.  
 
825 Stewart Drive, Sunnyvale: Building / Lot 31 32 

- Built: 1968 by Aertech Industries, then acquired by TRW in 1974. 
o 2001-2014: Site unoccupied  
o 2002: Northrop Grumman purchases TRW  
o 2015: Site leased by Apple 

- Lot Type: Industrial R&D  
 
Current Owner: State of California  

- GI Partners on behalf of DataCore (a discretionary core real estate fund managed by GI Partners 
on behalf of The California State Teachers’ Retirement System). Purchased in 2016 for 
$34,725,000 from Hines.33 

 
31 California Regional Water Quality Control Board San Francisco Bay Region, Five-Year Review Former TRW Microwave 
Site 825 Stewart Drive, https://semspub.epa.gov/work/HQ/178958.pdf  
32 AECOM, Former TRW Microwave Site: Current Site Status and Path Forward, July 9 2020, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100023781.pdf  
33 The Registry, GI Partners Buys Apple Occupied 825 Stewart Drive in Sunnyvale for $34.7MM, May 31 2016, 
https://news.theregistrysf.com/gi-partners-buys-apple-occupied-825-stewart-drive-in-sunnyvale-for-34-7mm/  
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- Hines/Oaktree Venture had acquired the property in 2014 from Landmark Pacific who owned it 
from 1996-2014.34 

 
 
Covenants & Encumbrances  
Land Use Covenant 35 36 

Ä Activities Prohibited Which Disturb the Remedy And Monitoring Systems Without Approval 
Ä Day Care Center Prohibited 
Ä Elder Care Center Prohibited 
Ä Hospital Use Prohibited 
Ä Land Use Covenant 
Ä Maintain Monitoring Of Groundwater 
Ä No Groundwater Extraction At Any Depth Without Approval 
Ä Notify Damages To Remedy And Monitoring Systems Upon Discovery 
Ä Notify Prior To Subsurface Work 
Ä Only Extraction Of Groundwater For Site Remediation Permitted 
Ä Raising Of Food Prohibited 
Ä Residence Use Prohibited 

 

Provisions to Run with the Land. Incorporated into Deeds and Leases (California Civil Code 1468, 
1469, 1470).Violation of the Covenant shall be grounds for the Regional Board to file civil and criminal 
actions against the Owner as provided by law.  
 
Inconsistent with current state law; 2014 Five Year Review directed:  

- “The existing restrictive covenant was recorded prior to the passage of the California Civil Code 
section 1471, which establishes the framework for environmental covenants in California. The 
legal owners of the former TRW Microwave property should record a new restrictive covenant 
that is consistent with current California law.”37 

 
Litigation & Violations  
 
*Note: 1981-1988: Larry Tuck, EH&S Manager for TRW Microwave in Sunnyvale, CA  

- Resume states: “Established, implemented and managed environmental health, safety, employee 
disability, emergency preparedness and recovery programs.  Re-engineered all local ventilation 

 
34 Hines, Hines/Oaktree Venture Acquires 825 Stewart, May 19 2014, https://www.hines.com/news/hines-oaktree-venture-
acquires-825-stewart  
35 California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Covenant and Agreement to Restrict Use of Property, Aug 10 1992, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/2119219.pdf 
36 California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Covenant and Agreement to Restrict Use of Property, Aug 10 1992, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/2119219.pdf 
37 U.S. EPA, 4th Five Year Review: AMD & TRW Microwave Superfund Sites, 2014, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/1151964.pdf  
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systems and chemical processes. Formally advised over 200 employees that they were 
overexposed to hazardous materials. Professional handling of these delicate situations resulted in 
no employee complaints to OSHA or lawsuits.”38 

 
1984 – State Order  

The State issued an order requiring AMD, Philips, and TRW to develop a joint plan to prevent 
further migration of contaminants.39 
 
1989 – State Orders 

Orders required TRW to submit an investigation and proposed cleanup plan with AMD and 
Philips.40 

 
1991 – Record of Decision  

In 1991, the State and EPA issued a combined Record of Decision for TRW and the surrounding 
AMD and Philips sites.41 
 
2014 – Warning & Agency Transfer  

Responsible Party’s for the Site, including Advanced Micro Devices, Inc. (AMD), Northrop 
Grumman Systems Corporation (Northrop Grumman), and Philips Semiconductors, Inc. (Philips), have 
not submitted to the Agencies a Work Plan that meets US EPA’s minimum requirements for 
investigating vapor intrusion and which have previously been communicated to the RPs for the Triple 
Site (see attached). U.S. EPA is preparing a Notice of Deficiency and Requirement to Prepare and 
Implement a Vapor Intrusion Work Plan. 42 

Resources and level of expertise place US EPA in a better position to oversee the vapor intrusion 
evaluations necessary at the Triple Site; these evaluations will be used to amend the Record of Decision 
(ROD) for the Triple Site, signed in 1991, to address the subsurface-to-indoor air vapor intrusion 
pathway; and, i The pace at which this particular investigation is occurring is not commensurate with the 
need for more absolute certainty that vapor intrusion is being investigated and addressed. 43 
 
2014 – Issues Noted in FYR 

 
38 Larry Tuck, Resume, https://www.scribd.com/document/119481819/US-safty-doc  
39 U.S. EPA, TRW Microwave Superfund: Cleanup Activities, 
https://cumulis.epa.gov/supercpad/SiteProfiles/index.cfm?fuseaction=second.cleanup&id=0901181  
40 U.S. EPA, TRW Microwave Superfund: Cleanup Activities, 
https://cumulis.epa.gov/supercpad/SiteProfiles/index.cfm?fuseaction=second.cleanup&id=0901181  
41 U.S. EPA, TRW Microwave Superfund: Cleanup Activities, 
https://cumulis.epa.gov/supercpad/SiteProfiles/index.cfm?fuseaction=second.cleanup&id=0901181  
42 U.S. EPA, Notice of Lead Agency Transfer – California Regional Board to US EPA, 
https://documents.geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/regulators/deliverable_documents/3448957681/TRIPLE%20SITE%20FIN
AL%20-%20EPA%20Notice%20to%20RPs_Aug%207%202014.pdf  
43 U.S. EPA, Notice of Lead Agency Transfer – California Regional Board to US EPA, 
https://documents.geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/regulators/deliverable_documents/3448957681/TRIPLE%20SITE%20FIN
AL%20-%20EPA%20Notice%20to%20RPs_Aug%207%202014.pdf  
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 Groundwater contamination is not adequately characterized in the TRW source area and 
downgradient B3 zone. Source area groundwater continues to show high concentrations of TCE in the 
B1 and B2 aquifer zones, despite in-situ bioremediation activities. Continue in-situ treatments to further 
reduce source area COC concentrations, and investigate and implement opportunities for optimization.  
Groundwater concentrations in the off-site plume indicate a potential for vapor intrusion in an area with 
4 schools and over 100 residences. There has been limited indoor air sampling in the area.  Achievement 
of groundwater cleanup goals will remain a challenge as long as the migration of COCs from up-
gradient, off-site sources persists. Coordinate with the Regional Board on a broader regional strategy for 
groundwater remediation and identify and investigate optimization opportunities for remediation of off-
site contamination sources. This coordination effort will facilitate achievement of cleanup goals, which 
remains a challenge due to the persistent migration of COCs onto the site from up-gradient sources.44 
 
2014-2015 – Notice of Deficiency  

The EPA issued a Notice of Deficiency to the Responsible Parties. It ordered the preparation and 
implementation of a more robust Vapor Intrusion Work Plan, and it stated that the vapor intrusion 
evaluation would lead to a ROD amendment. It added: EPA will take the lead in developing and 
implementing an appropriate community outreach strategy for the vapor intrusion investigation, 
however, your full participation in developing outreach tools (such as press releases, fact sheets, etc.) 
and conducting outreach (door-to-door efforts, individual meetings with property owners and 
occupants, public meetings, etc.) is encouraged.45 

On August 11, 2014, EPA issued a Notice of Delinquency to the companies responsible for the 
AMD, TRW, and Signetics sites and Offsite OU regarding vapor intrusion. EPA also oversaw vapor 
intrusion assessment and mitigation efforts in commercial buildings at the AMD and TRW sites. 46 
 
2016 – Denials  

“The Regional Water Board has relied solely upon review of its official records and has made no 
other inquiries and has made no inspection of the Property owned by Owner. The Owner does not send 
regular updates on compliance with the Covenant The Regional Water Board recommends that a 
prospective purchaser obtain independent legal counsel and appropriate technical advice to make an 
independent determination of whether the Owner has complied with the Covenant.47” 
 
2019 – Settlements  

On October 4, 2019, EPA announced two settlements to study indoor air quality, advance 
cleanup, and take action related to groundwater contamination for the Triple Site. The first, with Philips 

 
44 U.S. EPA, 4th Five Year Review: AMD & TRW Microwave Superfund Sites, 2014, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/1151964.pdf  
45 Lenny Seigel, CPEO, Building Trust at the Triple Site, Sunnyvale, California, 2015,  
http://www.cpeo.org/brownfields/reports/N-Z/TripleSite.pdf  
46 U.S. EPA, 5th Five Year Review: AMD & TRW Microwave Superfund Sites, 2019, pg25, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100018396.pdf  
47 California Water Boards, Status of Deed Restriction, Former TRW Microwave, 825 Stewart Drive, Sunnyvale, Santa Clara 
County, 2016, https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100023779.pdf  
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Semiconductors Inc. (Philips), requires the company to study indoor air quality in commercial buildings 
at the Signetics site and evaluate options to speed cleanup of contaminated groundwater. The second 
settlement adds Advanced Micro Devices (AMD) and Northrop Grumman Systems Corporation 
(formerly TRW Microwave) as signatory parties—with Philips as the party performing the work— to 
assess vapor intrusion and implement mitigation measures in residential buildings adjacent to the 
Signetics site that are located over the groundwater contamination. 
The orders can be found here and here.48 49 
 The effectiveness of remediation activities at the AMD and TRW sites and Offsite OU is limited 
by continuing contaminant groundwater migration onto the sites from up-gradient sources, including the 
Signetics Site. To address this issue, the previous FYR recommended the establishment of a broader 
remedial strategy for regional groundwater restoration. In March 2019, EPA issued of an Administrative 
Order to Phillips for the Signetics Site to complete a focused Feasibility Study, to evaluate the potential 
for in-situ groundwater treatment technologies to accelerate the pace of the groundwater cleanup, and 
hence the cleanup of the adjacent AMD and TRW sites and Offsite OU. 50 
 
Pending – Amend Record of Decision  

In order for the remedy to be protective in the long-term, EPA’s Record of Decision will need to 
be amended to reflect a revised final soil and groundwater remedy for the site, since the remedy selected 
in the Record of Decision (groundwater extraction) is no longer operating. EPA also recommended the 
following: (1) adding source area and down-gradient B3 zone wells to the suite of annual monitoring 
wells, to more fully characterize groundwater contamination in the source area and down-gradient B3 
zone; and (2) investigating and implementing optimization options for the in-situ bioremediation work, 
to better capture contaminants that are migrating offsite. 51 

The remedy selected for the TRW Site is no longer being operated. Select a revised remedy 
which incorporates long-term stewardship measures for the current vapor intrusion mitigation measures 
in place, as well as addresses potential vapor intrusion in the event of future land use changes. Milestone 
date: 9/1/2022. 52 
 
Pending – 2024 FYR Investigation53 

 
48 U.S. EPA, Superfund: TRW Microwave, 
https://cumulis.epa.gov/supercpad/SiteProfiles/index.cfm?fuseaction=second.Stayup&id=0901181  
49 Federal Register, Notice of Proposed Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent for Removal Site 
Evaluation and Removal Action for the Offsite Operable Unit of the Triple Site, Sunnyvale, California, 
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2019/10/04/2019-21688/notice-of-proposed-administrative-settlement-
agreement-and-order-on-consent-for-removal-site 
50 U.S. EPA, 5th Five Year Review: AMD & TRW Microwave Superfund Sites, 2019, pg17, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100018396.pdf  
51 U.S. EPA, TRW Microwave Superfund: Cleanup Activities, 
https://cumulis.epa.gov/supercpad/SiteProfiles/index.cfm?fuseaction=second.cleanup&id=0901181  
52 U.S. EPA, 5th Five Year Review: AMD & TRW Microwave Superfund Sites, 2019, pg30, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100018396.pdf  
53 U.S. EPA, 5th Five Year Review: AMD & TRW Microwave Superfund Sites, 2019, pg29, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100018396.pdf  
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Investigation of potential TCE impacts to outdoor ambient air from the groundwater treatment 
system for the AMD and TRW sites and Offsite OU, which is located within the Signetics Site, is 
warranted, as well as potential impacts from emissions from the residential, school, and commercial 
vapor intrusion mitigation systems that have been installed to address inhalation risks. 
 
Chemical Use  

- 1968-1993: Silicon manufacturing: TCE & other industrial solvents54 
- 1980: Corrosive Liquids, Oxidizing Minerals, Toxic Materials, Pyrophoric Materials, Poisonous 

Gases, Compressed Non-Flammable Gases, Flammable Gases & Liquids, Combustible Liquids, 
Corrosive Solids, Poisons.55 

- 1970-1982: Waste solvent stored in UST56 
- 1983: Radioactive materials including Promethium-147, Thallium-204, Cadmium-109, 

Strontium-90 
- 1968-1984: Ammonia gas & acid neutralization system operated57 
- 1984 - Regulatory oversight delegated to the Water Board  
- 1984: RWQCB Cleanup & Abatement Order (Order No. 91-103) 58 
- 1988: 500lbs hydrogen fluoride & 250lbs sulfuric acid59 
- 1988: RWQCB Site Cleanup Requirements adopted60 
- 1990: Added to EPA NPL  
- 1991: Remedial Action Plan Approved 
- 1991 RWQCB/EPA NPL Contaminants of Concern: TCA, TCE, DCE, Dichlorobenzene, 

Ethylbenzene, Trichlorobenzene, Xylene.61 
- 1993: Industrial operations cease62 

 
54 AECOM, Former TRW Microwave Site: Current Site Status and Path Forward, July 9 2020, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100023781.pdf  
55 City of Sunnyvale, Sunnyvale Department of Public Safety Fire Prevention Bureau, Hazardous Materials Survey, 1980. 
Files obtained via Public Records Act request in 2020  
56 AECOM, Former TRW Microwave Site: Current Site Status and Path Forward, July 9 2020, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100023781.pdf  
57 AECOM, Former TRW Microwave Site: Current Site Status and Path Forward, July 9 2020, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100023781.pdf  
58 AECOM, Former TRW Microwave Site: Current Site Status and Path Forward, July 9 2020, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100023781.pdf  
59 RCRA TRI, ID CAR000250712 & CAD009159088 
60 AECOM, Former TRW Microwave Site: Current Site Status and Path Forward, July 9 2020, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100023781.pdf  
61 U.S. EPA, Superfund Records of Decision Update, 1991,  
https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPURL.cgi?Dockey=20016VR6.TXT  
62 U.S. EPA, 5th Five Year Review: AMD & TRW Microwave Superfund Sites, 2019, pg91, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/100018396.pdf  
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- 2014: EPA became lead regulatory agency.63 64 
- 2019 EPA Contaminants of Concern: see table below 

 
NPL EPA ID: CAD009159088: www.epa.gov/superfund/trwmicrowave 
 

Contaminant Name65 Contaminated 
Media 

Area of Site Found 
(Operable Unit) 

More 
Information CAS # 

1,1,1-TRICHLOROETHANE Groundwater OVERALL SITE (01) ATSDR Profile 71-55-6 

1,1,2-TRICHLORO-1,2,2-TRIFLUOR
OETHANE Groundwater OVERALL SITE (01)   76-13-1 

1,1-DICHLOROETHANE Groundwater OVERALL SITE (01) ATSDR Profile 75-34-3 

1,1-DICHLOROETHENE Groundwater OVERALL SITE (01) ATSDR Profile 75-35-4 

1,2-DICHLOROBENZENE Groundwater OVERALL SITE (01) ATSDR Profile 95-50-1 

CHLOROETHENE (VINYL CHLORI
DE) Groundwater OVERALL SITE (01) ATSDR Profile 75-01-4 

CIS-1,2-DICHLOROETHENE Groundwater OVERALL SITE (01) ATSDR Profile 156-59-2 

TETRACHLOROETHENE Groundwater OVERALL SITE (01) ATSDR Profile 127-18-4 

TRANS-1,2-DICHLOROETHENE Groundwater OVERALL SITE (01) ATSDR Profile 156-60-5 

TRICHLOROETHENE Groundwater OVERALL SITE (01) ATSDR Profile 79-01-6 

 
 
Vapor Intrusion  
 
Site Risks: Exposure Scenario & Pathway66 

- Groundwater Ingestion 
- Inhalation of vapors (showering/cooking) 
- Inhalation of vapors (volatilized from groundwater) 
- Inhalation of emissions from air stripper  

 
63 U.S. EPA, Annual Groundwater Monitoring & Remedial Progress Report, https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/1151978.pdf 
64 U.S. EPA, Notice of Lead Agency Transfer – California Regional Board to US EPA, 
https://documents.geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/regulators/deliverable_documents/3448957681/TRIPLE%20SITE%20FIN
AL%20-%20EPA%20Notice%20to%20RPs_Aug%207%202014.pdf  
65 U.S. EPA, Superfund: TRW Microwave, Health & Environment, Contaminant List, 
https://cumulis.epa.gov/supercpad/SiteProfiles/index.cfm?fuseaction=second.contams&id=0901181 
66 U.S. EPA, 4th Five Year Review: AMD & TRW Microwave Superfund Sites, 2014, 
https://semspub.epa.gov/work/09/1151964.pdf  
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History  

• 2004 - Indoor air sampling conducted without mechanical ventilation system in operation 
• 2013 - Indoor air and sub-slab vapor sampling conducted, showing screening level exceedances 

and resulting in installation of a passive sub-slab venting system with the capability of being 
converted to active status if conditions warrant  

• TCE was present inside the building up to 7.7 μg/m3 (3.0ug/m3 Industrial RSL)  
• Vinyl Chloride was present inside the building up to 0.53ug/m3 (0.16 DTSC Industrial) 

• 2015 - Results of confirmation sub-slab and indoor air sampling verified the efficacy of the 
passive sub-slab ventilation system 

• Toluene and Ethylbenzene come back high but not noted by EPA 
 
Screens 
 
EPA Environmental Justice Site Screening: 67 

- Hazardous Waste 97.3 Percentile,  
- Wastewater Discharge 95.6 Percentile,  
- NPL Proximity 99.9 Percentile,  
- Respiratory Hazard Index 88 Percentile,  
- Air Toxics Cancer Risk 85.5 Percentile  

 
CalEnviroScreen Site Score68 

- Cleanup Sites 100%,  
- Groundwater Threats 100%,  
- Hazardous Waste Generators and Facilities 97%,  
- Toxic Releases 50%  

 
Santa Clara County Groundwater Basin 

- The site overlies the Santa Clara Valley groundwater basin. Groundwater from this basin 
provides up to 50% of the municipal drinking water for over 1.4 million residents of the Santa 
Clara Valley. 69 

 
 
Press of 825 Stewart  
 
NBC: EPA Reaches Settlements to Study Indoor Air and Groundwater Contamination in Sunnyvale 
(2019)  

 
67 U.S. EPA, ECHO: 825 Stewart Drive, https://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110002410061  
68 California GeoTracker, 825 Stewart Drive Sunnyvale, https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/  
69 California Regional Water Quality Control Board San Francisco Bay Region, Five-Year Review Former TRW Microwave 
Site 825 Stewart Drive, https://semspub.epa.gov/work/HQ/178958.pdf  
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“Federal EPA officials announced Monday that private companies, Phillips Semiconductors, 
Advanced Microdevices and Northrop Grumman Systems have agreed to spend some $4 million 
studying and helping to clean up the contamination.”70 
 
KQED: Silicon Valley's Toxic Past Haunts Sunnyvale Neighborhood (2017) 

"Next to Lowe’s is a large, vacant dome of soil carpeted with dry grass. “Here’s where we have 
the highest concentrations of TCE,” says EPA site manager Melanie Morash, gesturing at the mound. 
This is essentially Ground Zero for what the EPA calls the Triple Site. The Triple Site gets its name 
from the three chipmakers responsible for the contamination: Philips, Advanced Micro Devices and 
TRW Microwave. ... For now, cleanup, testing and mitigation at the Triple Site is expected to continue 
indefinitely, until the TCE levels in both groundwater and indoor air are safe."71 
 
The Mercury News: Sunnyvale: EPA shares findings on vapor intrusion (2015)  

The EPA held a public meeting on May 14 at San Miguel Elementary School to educate nearby 
residents on vapor intrusion in an area referred to as the “triple site,” which includes Advanced Micro 
Devices and 901-902 Thompson Place superfund site, the TRW Microwave superfund site and the 
Philips Semiconductors site, formerly Signetics Inc. 

The groundwater below the triple site was found to be contaminated in 1982 as a result of a leak 
in an underground waste solvent storage tank. The groundwater was found to be contaminated by 
various volatile organic compounds, the most notable of which is trichloroethene, or TCE. TCE is a 
volatile chemical mainly used in cleaning products, some of which can even be found in household 
items. Vapor from the groundwater can seep into the soil and potentially into the homes and buildings 
atop the site. According to Rusty Harris-Bishop, superfund project manager, TCE vapor can enter homes 
and buildings in different ways.“Vapors can enter homes through basements, crawl spaces, cracks in 
foundations or utility access points, and levels can vary throughout the year,” he said.72 
 
CPEO: Building Trust at the Triple Site, Sunnyvale, California (2015)  

Since the early 1980’s, local and regional newspapers and broadcast news have given extensive 
coverage to groundwater contamination. The Triple Site story repeatedly made front page on regional 
newspapers. In Sunnyvale, there were a series of community meetings, some sponsored by government 
agencies, others called by community groups. For example, the Peninsula Times Tribune reported in 
July, 1984, “More than 200 people jammed a hot church auditorium to demand that more be done to 
clean up toxic chemicals threatening Santa Clara Valley’s water supplies.” Two members of Congress, 
Republic Ed Zschau and Democrat Norman Mineta, attended that meeting. I think I did, too.  

 
70 NBC Bay Area, EPA Reaches Settlements to Study Indoor Air and Groundwater Contamination in Sunnyvale, 2019, 
https://www.nbcbayarea.com/news/local/epa-reaches-settlements-to-study-indoor-air-groundwater-contamination-
sunnyvale/1961673/  
71 KQED, Silicon Valley's Toxic Past Haunts Sunnyvale Neighborhood, 2017, 
https://www.kqed.org/futureofyou/388730/silicon-valleys-toxic-past-haunts-sunnyvale-neighborhood 
72 The Mercury News, Sunnyvale: EPA shares findings on vapor intrusion, 2015, 
https://www.mercurynews.com/2015/05/20/sunnyvale-epa-shares-findings-on-vapor-intrusion/  
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Activists from throughout Silicon Valley united to form the Silicon Valley Toxics Coalition. The 
Coalition successfully pressed for legislation to prevent future leaks and spills, and for a quarter century 
it helped neighborhood groups demand cleanup throughout the Valley. It led the community campaign 
at the Triple Site, working with the newly formed San Miguel Neighborhood Association. Association 
members requested indoor air testing.  

Furthermore, as early as June, 1984 Sunnyvale city officials “urged other public agencies to take 
more aggressive steps, including legal action if necessary, to identify and clean up toxic chemicals that 
have seeped into the ground water beneath the city.” They told the press that they had learned about the 
groundwater contamination by reading the newspapers.73 
 
The Mercury News: Sunnyvale: EPA steps in for contaminated triple site oversight (2014)  

Three contaminated sites in Sunnyvale have until Sept. 2 to respond to a notice of deficiency 
from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. The EPA delivered the letter to AMD at 901/902 
Thompson Place, the Philips (formerly Signetics) site at 811 E. Arques Ave. and 444 N. Wolfe Road, 
and TRW Microwave Superfund Site earlier this month. 
There are more than 100 residences and at least four schools within the 100-acre area that spans from E. 
Arques Avenue to Lakehaven Drive. 

The EPA has been investigating the potential for vapor intrusion, a process by which vapors 
from groundwater contamination may migrate into the indoor air, particularly at schools and homes in 
the Duane and San Miguel avenues area… Vapor intrusion is one of the highest priorities for the region 
and division. We are continuing to learn about this problem, and we’re committed to being open and 
transparent and available to the community and getting sampling done to answer questions that are 
raised. We want to get it done expeditiously.”74 
 
NBC: Sunnyvale Schools, Homes Sit on Toxic Groundwater: EPA (2014)  

Tech companies Advanced Micro Devices Inc, Northrop Grumman Systems Corporation and 
Philips are believed to be responsible for the pollution, EPA officials said. "Unfortunately, some of the 
companies are dragging their feet and the public needs to get involved to make sure they do the right 
thing," said Lenny Siegel, Center for Public Environmental Oversight's executive director.75 
 
The Atlantic: Not Even Silicon Valley Escapes History (2013)  

“Another massive empty office building stood out for its hexagonal dark glass atrium and the 
sculpture just outside its locked doors, which looked like a sundial set permanently to noon…… When I 
got home, I found out that for 30 years, and all around the block I'd surveyed, an intense remediation 
effort was underway. For as long as I've been alive, there has been a plume of chemicals underground at 

 
73 Lenny Seigel, CPEO, Building Trust at the Triple Site, Sunnyvale, California, 2015,  
http://www.cpeo.org/brownfields/reports/N-Z/TripleSite.pdf  
74 The Mercury News, Sunnyvale: EPA steps in for contaminated triple site oversight, 2014, 
https://www.mercurynews.com/2014/08/27/sunnyvale-epa-steps-in-for-contaminated-triple-site-oversight/   
75 NBC Bay Area, Sunnyvale Schools, Homes Sit on Toxic Groundwater: EPA, 2014, 
https://www.nbcbayarea.com/news/local/sunnyvale-schools-homes-sit-on-toxic-groundwater/81861/  
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that spot, extending 4,000 feet north, up past 101. Everyone hoped these chemicals wouldn't make it to 
the water supply before it could be pumped out and treated…. Planet Granite is located on a site 
contaminated by Philips Semiconductor. So is Lowe's. The empty octagonal glass building is a TRW 
Microwave Superfund site. I'd been walking on a paved-over environmental disaster zone, colonized by 
whoever wanted to benefit from lower leasing prices and a lack of NIMBY opponents.”76  
 
 

Previous Known Violations of State Health, Safety, & Environmental 
Laws  

 
Apple Agrees to Pay $450,000 to Settle Hazardous Waste Violations 

“A settlement agreement between the California Department of Toxic Substances Control 
(DTSC) and Apple Inc. was filed in Santa Clara County Superior Court by the California Attorney 
General’s Office on behalf of DTSC. 

Apple has agreed to pay $450,000 to DTSC and to increase facility inspections to settle 
allegations of hazardous waste violations at facilities in Silicon Valley. The settlement stems from 
violations that DTSC found during a June 13, 2013 inspection of an Apple electronic waste shredding 
facility in Sunnyvale and a subsequent review of records. DTSC discovered that Apple had opened, 
operated and then closed an electronic waste shredding facility from 2011 to 2012 in Cupertino without 
DTSC’s knowledge and without complying with universal waste regulations, including the 
mismanagement of metal dust from shredder operations. 

Apple processed about 1.1 million pounds of electronic waste at the Cupertino facility before 
closing it in January 2013, and shifting operations to a facility in Sunnyvale. In Sunnyvale, Apple 
dismantled, shredded and disposed of more than 800,000 pounds of electronic waste before notifying 
DTSC of the plant’s existence and complying with all universal waste regulations. 
Universal waste, such as electronic devices, batteries and other discarded consumer products containing 
hazardous substances, are subject to California universal waste regulations. Since they are considered a 
type of hazardous waste, universal waste handlers who accept universal waste must notify DTSC and 
handle the waste according to management standards required by law. 

The shredding process produces a fine dust that is collected by a baghouse and filter system. The 
dust is classified as a hazardous waste due to the concentration of metals. The shredded devices are 
shipped offsite for recycling and sold as scrap metal. Apple, however, shipped hazardous dust and floor 
sweep from Sunnyvale to a recycling facility in Roseville that was not authorized to handle Apple’s 
hazardous waste. 
After the inspection, records review and dust sampling, DTSC alleged the following violations: 

• Transportation of hazardous waste without a proper manifest 
• Failing to report and track exports of hazardous waste 
• Failing to label or otherwise mark used oil containers as “hazardous waste” 

 
76 The Atlantic, Not Even Silicon Valley Escapes History, 2013, 
https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2013/07/not-even-silicon-valley-escapes-history/277824/  
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• Failing to provide notice of closure for the facility in Cupertino 
• Failing to submit a written closure plan and cost estimate for closing the facility in Cupertino and 

for eventual closure of the one in Sunnyvale 
• Failing to demonstrate financial assurance to fund the eventual closure of the two facilities 

“Compliance with the hazardous waste law is fundamental in protecting the health of workers and 
communities as well as the environment,” said Keith Kihara, Chief of DTSC’s enforcement division. 
“We are encouraged by the settlement and that Apple is working with us to take the necessary steps to 
comply with California’s hazardous waste law.” 

As part of the settlement, Apple has agreed to maintain a closure plan and financial insurance for 
the facility, conduct weekly inspections of areas where hazardous waste is generated and stored, and will 
ensure that electronic waste, including shredded electronic waste, is properly labeled and not put into 
containers with dust derived from its shredding operations.”77 78 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
77 https://dtsc.ca.gov/2016/12/06/apple-agrees-to-pay-450000-to-settle-hazardous-waste-violations/  
78 https://dtsc.ca.gov/hw-projects/apple-inc/  
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Additional Cases 
 

California Investigations 
 

California Department of Labor: Ashley Gjovik v Apple Inc., (RCI-CM-842830), [CA §132(a), 
§232.5, §1102.5, §6310, §6399] 
 
California Department of Employment & Fair Housing: Ashley Gjovik v Apple Inc., Right to Sue 
granted [CA §232.5, §1102.5] 
 

California Complaints 
 
California EPA: Environmental Complaint (COMP-51794) [CA §1102.5, §6310] 
 
California OSHA: Made complaint via phone call. [§6310] 
 
 

Federal Investigations 
 
U.S. NLRB: 32-CA-282142, 32-CA-283161,  32-CA-284428, & 32-CA-284441  
 
U.S. Department of Labor: Ashley Gjovik v Apple Inc (Apple Inc/Gjovik/9-3290-22-051) (SOX, 
CERCLA, & OSH Act)  
 
U.S. EEOC: Ashley Gjovik v Apple Inc., Right to Sue granted  
 

Federal Complaints 
 
U.S. SEC: 16304-612-987-465; 16353-506-600-213 Whistleblower Complaints [CA §232.5, §1102.5] 
 
U.S. EPA: Environmental Violation Complaint [CA §232.5, §1102.5, §6310] 
 
U.S. FBI: Electronic Tip on Public Corruption & White-Collar Crime [CA §1102.5] 
 
U.S. FDA: Suspected Criminal Activity Report [CA §1102.5] 
 
U.S. DOJ: Civil Rights Division Report [CA §1102.5] 
 
U.S. DOJ NCDF: Disaster Complaint on COVID-19 Vaccine Hoarding [CA §1102.5] 


